#### STANDARDS COMMITTEE

Notice of a Meeting to be held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on WEDNESDAY, the 11<sup>TH</sup> MAY 2005 at 7.00 pm

\_\_\_\_\_

The Members of this Committee are:-

Mrs C A Vant (Chairman)

Cllr. Davidson (Vice-Chairman)

Cllrs. Cooling, Mrs Larkin, Wickham, Yeo

Parish Council Representative: Substitute – Mr D Lyward Independent Members: Dr T Johnson, Mrs K McNicol

**N.B.** Under the Council's Public Participation Scheme, members of the public can submit a petition, ask a question or speak concerning any item contained on this Agenda (Procedure Rule 9 refers)

#### AGENDA

Page Nos.

- 1. **Apologies/Substitutes** To receive Notification of Substitutes in accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2 (iii)
- Declarations of Interest Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct adopted by the Council on the 1<sup>st</sup> May 2002 relating to items on this Agenda should be made here. The <u>nature</u> as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared
- 3. **Minutes** To approve the Minutes of the special meeting of this Committee held on the 17<sup>th</sup> January 2005

#### **PART I - FOR DECISION**

- 4. To aid continuity the Committee is asked to consider recommending to the Annual Meeting of the Council that the current Chairman, Mrs Vant continues in this role for the next Municipal Year
- 5. Local Investigation of Complaints of Misconduct

1 - 36

- 6. Summary of Allegations of Misconduct made to the Standards Board for 37 39 England
- 7. "A Code for the Future" Consultation on the Government Review of the Model Code of Conduct (to follow)

#### PART II - MONITORING/INFORMATION ITEMS

NONE FOR THIS MEETING

\_\_\_\_\_

DJS/CB 3<sup>rd</sup> May 2005

Queries concerning this agenda? Please contact Diana Sawyer 330499 diana.sawyer@ashford.gov.uk

Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on the Borough Council's Website: <a href="http://www.ashford.gov.uk">http://www.ashford.gov.uk</a>

Under 'Council Services' - 'Committee Meetings'



#### STANDARDS COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a MEETING of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 17<sup>TH</sup> JANUARY 2005

**PRESENT**: Mrs C A Vant (Chairman);

Cllrs. Allcock, Cooling, Davidson, Mrs Larkin, Wickham

Mr D Lyward - Parish Council Representative

Mrs K McNicol – Independent Member

In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2 (iii) Councillor Allcock attended as Substitute Member for Councillor Yeo.

**ALSO PRESENT**: Cllr. Taylor

Monitoring Officer, Democratic Services Manager, Member Services

Officer

Prior to the commencement of the meeting, a minute's silence was held as a mark of respect for the Independent Member Mr B Lowry who had passed away.

#### 380 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor	Interest	Minute No.
Taylor	Code of Conduct - Personal and Prejudicial – Parish Councillor seeking dispensation who left the meeting for the substantive item.	382
Wickham	Code of Conduct – Personal but not Prejudicial – Ward Member who had objected to the planning application but confirmed he retained an open mind for the substantive item on this agenda.	382

The Monitoring Officer advised that Councillor Taylor had an interest in the discussion and could assist in answering questions of a general nature. In response to a question, Councillor Taylor advised that there were two members of the High Halden Parish Council not seeking dispensation and one vacancy. One of these Councillors lived three to four miles away from the application site and the other four doors away from himself. Only one member of the Parish Council lived well away from the site and as far as he was aware none of the Parish Councillors had a direct financial interest in the application site. Councillor Taylor then left the meeting.

#### 381 MINUTES

#### Resolved:

That the Minutes of the meeting of this Committee held on the 23<sup>rd</sup> September 2004 be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

# 382 APPLICATION FOR DISPENSATION TO SPEAK AND VOTE AT A PARISH COUNCIL MEETING – HIGH HALDEN PARISH COUNCIL

A map showing the Planning Application No 04/02145/AS site and location of properties held by the four Parish Councillors seeking dispensation was tabled.

### STD 170105

The Monitoring Officer advised that the properties belonging to the Parish Councillors either abutted or were very close to the "Moriartis Workshop Site". It was a key employment site in the village and the application was of key importance to High Halden. Dispensation had been sought. Without this dispensation the Parish Council would not be able to comment on the application as more than half of the Parish Council would not be able to take part in discussions or make a decision. The Monitoring Officer was not aware of any other outline current planning applications for the site.

Issues raised in support of giving dispensation were concerned with enabling the Parish Council to give an overall view for the village. Further support was given for dispensation, provided it was on with the clear understanding that the Parish Council should represent the views of the community as a whole. The Monitoring Officer agreed to record in the Minutes (if dispensation were granted) that the letter of dispensation include reference to the Committee's expectation that Councillors would approach the matter solely on the basis of the wider public interest. Further support was given to dispensation, as without the Parish Council's view the community would not have a voice and it was ultimately for the Borough Council's Planning Officers/Planning Committee to make a decision on the site. With dispensation the Parish Council could put forward the salient points on behalf of the community.

The Monitoring Officer advised that he would be a little reluctant for the Planning Officer to report the views of the Parish Council and then qualify it by stating that a number of Parish Councillors had received dispensations.

#### Resolved:

That (i) each of the Councillors referred to below be granted dispensation to enable them to speak and vote at meetings of the Parish Council and/or its Planning Committee when matters relating to the formulation of the Parish Council's response on Planning Application 04/02145/AS are being discussed, notwithstanding that they have prejudicial interests therein by virtue of proximity of their private properties, such dispensations to expire when the Parish Council's response has been formulated and submitted to the Borough Council.

Mr John Ball Mr Robert Taylor Mr David Dyer Ms Sandra Relf

(ii) The Monitoring Officer when writing to the Parish Councillors about the dispensation advise that the Standards Committee's expectation would be that the relevant Parish Councillors would continue to express views based only on the wider public interest.

DJS/AEH - MINS:STDX0503

#### ASHFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

#### STANDARDS COMMITTEE

#### 11 MAY 2005

# REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES & MONITORING OFFICER LOCAL INVESTIGATION OF COMPLAINTS OF MISCONDUCT

#### A. <u>Introduction and Purpose of Report</u>

- 1. In March 2004 I reported to this Committee on the Local Determination Regulations which enable Ethical Standards Offices (ESOs) of the Standards Board for England (SBE) to refer complaints of misconduct by borough or parish councillors to local authority Standards Committees for local determination. At that time the regulations covered only the case where ESOs had completed an investigation and referred the matter to the local authority to hold a hearing. The Committee adopted a pre-hearing procedure to be followed by the Monitoring Officer in the event of such referrals and also a Local Determination Hearing Procedure. The Committee resolved to hear the first three referred cases as a full Committee (in order to develop expertise) and thereafter hear matters through "Borough matter" and "Parish matter" subcommittees of 5 members. To date there have been no referrals for local determination under the original regulations. A full day training event was held for all members on 24 March 2004 but the constitution of the Committee may change significantly after the annual meeting of the Council and further or refresher training would be desirable before any local hearings are actually held. I will examine the feasibility of this as soon as practicable.
- 2. New regulations now enable the Standards Board for England through its Ethical Standards Officers to refer complaints of Councillor misconduct to the Monitoring Officer of a local authority for local investigation, instead of investigation by the Standards Board's Ethical Standards Officers, before the complaint is determined by the Authority's Standards Committee (or Sub-Committee). The Standards Board has published guidance as to how local authorities should arrange for the conduct of such local investigations, and the first cases will now start to be referred to individual authorities for local investigation and determination under these regulations. The regulations also make important amendments to the powers of Standards Committees, even in cases which have been investigated by an Ethical Standards Officer.
- 3. This is a further step in giving local authority Standards Committees responsibility for complaints of Councillor misconduct, and will assist the Standards Board in ensuring that the less serious complaints are dealt with promptly.
- 4. This report sets out the implications of the new regulations and recommends a procedure for such local investigations and an amended procedure for local

determination hearings for adoption by the Standards Committee which would apply in all cases.

#### B. **Pre-Investigation**

1. When the SBE receives a complaint, it has to decide first whether the complaint appears to relate to a possible failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, and then whether it merits investigation. The SBE should now notify the Monitoring Officer of the complaint at this early stage and ask for background information, in order to ensure that it only refers for investigation those complaints which really merit such investigation. Whilst there is no duty on the Monitoring Officer to seek to resolve the complaint at this stage, and many complaints will not be capable of such local resolution, this may enable the Monitoring Officer in appropriate cases to explore whether there is anything which the Councillor and/or the authority could do to resolve the complaint and thereby avoid the time and cost of a formal investigation. Such local resolution would be effected by securing the agreement of the complainant, or otherwise persuading the SBE, that the complaint be not investigated or that no action is required on it.

## C. Local Investigations

#### **Receipt of the Complaint**

- 1. Under the new regulations, where the case is referred by the SBE for investigation, it goes to an ESO who decides whether to allocate it to one of the Board's own investigators or, now, to refer it to the authority's Monitoring Officer. The ESO will not refer matters for local investigation where the serious nature of the matter means that it is likely to require a sanction in excess of the Standards Committee's maximum sanction of 3 months' suspension. Other criteria highlighted by the Board for local investigation include:
  - the allegation is of an entirely local nature and does not raise matters of principle;
  - the initial investigation by an ethical standards officer has highlighted issues that are more to do with the effective governance of the authority than an individual's misconduct.

The ESO is less likely to refer cases if there is evidence that a local investigation would be perceived as unfair or biased or there are any relevant local political issues that may have a bearing on the investigation.

2. In referring a complaint to the Monitoring Officer, the ESO will send a copy of the original complaint letter and of any other relevant information which he/she possesses. In exceptional cases, such as a single letter containing a number of different complaints, the ESO may edit the complaint letter and merely pass on those parts relevant to the particular complaint.

3. On receipt of the referred complaint, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Councillor, the complainant and the Parish or Town Clerk (if it is a Parish or Town Council matter) and will arrange for the investigation. Although it may be possible at this stage to give limited confidential information to members of the Standards Committee regarding the referral, the better practice in my view is to resist doing so in order to ensure that absolute impartiality of the Committee is maintained from the outset.

# D. Appointment of the Investigating Officer

- 1. The Monitoring Officer remains the chief policy adviser to the Standards Committee and the primary contact for Councillors who have enquiries on standards issues, such as whether they have a personal or prejudicial interest in a particular matter. That role will usually be incompatible with personally undertaking the Investigating Officer role, which includes presenting the investigation report at any local standards hearing, so the Monitoring Officer will usually need to appoint another person to undertake the investigation upon terms which he considers appropriate. In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may be able to appoint another officer of the authority to undertake the investigation, but in sensitive cases it may be appropriate to appoint an outside investigator, either borrowing from another authority for the purpose or appointing an experienced commercial investigator for the purpose. Some provision has been made in the Council's budget for 2005/06 for the potential costs of such appointments.
- 2. The Investigating Officer will be required to produce a full report, setting out his conclusions as to the facts of the matter and whether the Councillor did or did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. One area of particular concern to any Investigating Officer will be the risk of a defamation claim from the Councillor or any other person mentioned in the report. (An Investigating Officer will be entitled to the defence of "qualified privilege" in the preparation of his/her report unless the claimant can demonstrate that the Investigating Officer was motivated by malice. However, the legal costs of fighting defamation action can be very considerable). The likelihood of such a claim is low, but if each Investigating Officer had to take out their own legal costs insurance it would push up their fees considerably. I have therefore recommended that the Council grant an indemnity against the legal costs of defending any such claim and any damages which might be awarded, and if agreed by this Committee, I will arrange for the Council to insure this risk.
- 3. The position of the Monitoring Officer as prime point of advice to individual members on standards issues may also give rise to conflicts of interest which would rule the Monitoring Officer out from acting as the legal adviser to the Standards Committee for individual case hearings (although this will not necessarily be the case for all hearings). Accordingly, the Monitoring Officer may need to arrange for another legal officer to act as the legal adviser to the Standards Committee for individual case hearings. On occasion, this may require borrowing such an adviser from another local authority or instructing a private practice solicitor for this purpose.

#### **Recommendation One:**

That the Council provide an indemnity to Investigating Officers against any claims for defamation, and that the Council insure such risk.

# E. **Procedure for Local Investigations**

- 1. The Committee needs to approve a procedure for local investigations, which will form part of the instructions to the Investigating Officer and will inform both the Councillor and the complainant as to how the matter will be dealt with. I attach as Appendix A a recommended procedure for local investigation which complies with the regulations and guidance from the SBE. Under this procedure, the investigation would run as follows:
- a. The Monitoring Officer will advise the Councillor, the Complainant and any Parish or Town Council of receipt of the complaint, of the identity of the Investigating Officer and of the Investigation Procedure. He/she will also provide the Councillor with a copy of the complaint;
- b. The Investigating Officer will contact the Councillor and the complainant for their comments and to identify any persons who he/she should interview and any evidence which he/she should examine;
- c. The Investigating Officer will conduct such interviews as appear to him/her to be necessary, including more detailed interviews with the Councillor if required;
- d. The Investigating Officer will send his full draft report to the Councillor and the complainant and the Monitoring Officer, and at least extracts to any person who has provided evidence which he/she has relied upon in writing the report, and give them 10 days for them to send him any comments or suggested corrections on the draft report;
- e. The Investigating Officer will produce a final report, taking account of any such comments and suggested corrections and send it to the Monitoring Officer;
- f. Where the Investigating Officer concludes that there has not been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, he/she will report to the Standards Committee. The Standards Committee will consider the report and any representations form the Councillor and will either:
  - i. accept the Investigating Officer's conclusions and take no further action, or
  - ii. resolve that the matter should be considered at a formal hearing. [Note that this is not a finding of fault on the part of the Councillor but merely a conclusion that they are not prepared at that stage to accept the Investigating Officer's conclusions and that the matter merits examination at a formal hearing.]

- g. Where the Investigating Officer concludes that there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, the matter must go to a formal hearing without such a preliminary step.
- h. If the matter goes to a formal hearing, that hearing would be conducted in exactly the same manner as a formal hearing on an ESO's report except that the Investigating Officer takes the place of the ESO in presenting the report and introducing any relevant evidence and witnesses.
- 2. Under this procedure, in order to prevent any prejudice to the Standards Committee's role in eventually determining the complaint, members of the Standards Committee will not be advised of the progress of the investigation, until they receive the agenda and papers, including the Investigating Officer's report, for the meeting which is to consider that report.

#### **Recommendation Two:**

That the Committee approve the Procedure for Local Investigations set out at Appendix A.

#### F. Additional Failures to Comply with the Code of Conduct

1. Where an ESO is conducting an investigation and identifies evidence of additional failures to comply with the Code of Conduct, either by the original Councillor or by other Councillors, he/she can add those matters into his/her investigation and report. The regulations provide that where a matter is referred for local investigation, the Investigating Officer's remit is limited to the conduct which comprises the subject matter of the original complaint. Accordingly, where he/she identifies additional matters outside the scope of the original complaint, he/she will not be able to add them into his/her investigation. However, his/her remit is to conclude whether the conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, and he/she is therefore entitled to conclude that the conduct constitutes a failure to comply with paragraphs of the Code of Conduct other than those specifically cited by the complainant. By way of example, if the complaint were one of rudeness by one Councillor to another, the Investigating Officer would not be entitled to include in his investigation any other instances of such rudeness, but would be entitled to conclude that the conduct complained of constituted a failure to treat with respect even if the original complaint only suggested that it was conduct likely to bring the authority into disrepute.

## G. Reference back to the Standards Board by the Monitoring Officer

1. Matters will be referred for local investigation at an early stage. It is therefore possible that, during the course of the investigation, it becomes apparent that the conduct complained of is more serious and that a Case Tribunal, with powers to impose sanctions of up to one year's suspension or up to five year's

disqualification, would be the appropriate forum for any hearing of the matter, rather than a Standards Committee with a limited power to suspend the Councillor for up to 3 months. The regulations (and the recommended investigation procedure) therefore provide that, at any time during the course of an investigation, the Investigating Officer can report to the Monitoring Officer who can request the ESO to resume responsibility for the investigation. The final decision to resume such responsibility rests with the ESO.

#### H. Local Hearings

- 1. The regulations also make certain changes in respect of the conduct of local hearings. The attached procedure for local hearings has therefore been amended to take account of these changes, as follows:
  - Where a matter is the subject of local investigation, the hearing must be held (i.e.completed) within 3 months of the date on which the Investigating Officer presents his/her final report to the Monitoring Officer.
  - The regulations now state specifically that, if the Standards Committee in the course of a hearing feels that it needs additional evidence in order to come to a determination of the matter, it can adjourn and request the Monitoring Officer to provide such further information or undertake further investigation, but the Committee can only do so once on any one matter.
  - The regulations now make it clear that the Standards Committee has the flexibility to combine sanctions. Accordingly, the Committee can now set the sanctions in any particular case as any one, or combination, of the following:
    - a. censure;
    - b. restriction of access to Council premises or use of Council resources for up to 3 months;
    - c. a requirement to give a written apology;
    - d. a requirement to undergo training;
    - e. a requirement to undertake conciliation;
    - f. suspension or partial suspension for a period of up to 3 months, and
    - g. suspension or partial suspension until the Councillor undertakes training or conciliation or provides a written apology.

This makes it clear that the Standards Committee could, in an appropriate case, determine that the member should be subject to a 3-month suspension but that, if he/she were to provide a written apology and undergo training, the suspension would be reduced to a 2-month partial suspension from, for example, just the Planning Committee.

• The regulations also allow the Standards Committee to ask the Standards Board to resume responsibility for a matter at any stage. This would normally be where the Investigating Officer's report identifies conduct of such seriousness that the Committee believes that its maximum sanction would be inadequate, but it could be relevant if so many members of the Standards Committee were conflicted out of any hearing on a matter that it would not be possible to hold a hearing, or if the Committee felt that local circumstances made it impossible to hold a proper and impartial hearing on the matter. Such a request must be directed to the ESO, who has the final decision whether to resume responsibility for the case. Such a request cannot be made once the hearing has been concluded.

#### **Recommendation Three:**

That the amended Procedure for Local Determination Hearings set out in Appendix B be adopted by the Committee and that the function of holding local hearings be delegated to the already established sub-committees once the first three referred cases have been dealt with by the full committee.

## I. Costs of Investigations of Parish and Town Council Matters

1. District Councils remain responsible for standards matters in respect of Parish Councils in their own areas. The regulations provide that where, in the course of an investigation, the Investigating Officer requires a Parish Council to provide any advice or assistance in connection with the investigation, the District Council shall meet any reasonable costs incurred by the Parish Council in providing such advice or assistance. Accordingly, where the District Council is required to arrange the investigation of a complaint against a Parish Councillor, the District Council not only has to bear the direct costs of the investigation and any subsequent hearing but, in addition, if the Investigating Officer requires the Parish Council to provide information for the investigation, such as copies of any Codes of Conduct, minutes of meeting, records of the Parish Council's land ownerships, contracts or other activities, the Parish Council can recover the costs of providing such information from the District Council.

#### J. Local Protocols

The Council has adopted a local protocol of good practice for councillors dealing with planning matters. In so far as complaints of breaches amount to breaches of the Council's Code of Conduct they would be dealt with in

accordance with those procedures. For other complaints under the protocol, a shorter and less formal process is envisaged to bring matters before the Standards Committee for consideration and this will be kept under review to ensure it works satisfactorily.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

#### It is recommended that:-

- (i) The Council provide an indemnity to Investigating Officers against any claims for defamation, and that the Council insure such risk.
- (ii) The Committee approve the Procedure for Local Investigations set out at Appendix A.
- (iii) The amended Procedure for Local Determination Hearings set out in Appendix B be adopted by the Committee and that the function of holding local hearings be delegated to the already established subcommittees once the first three referred cases have been dealt with by the full committee.
- (iv) Minor consequential amendments be made to the Standards Committee terms of reference to include consideration and determination of reports following referrals for local investigation.
- (v) The Monitoring Officer examines the feasibility of further training for councillors before any local hearings are held.

# APPENDIX A

# PROCEDURE FOR LOCAL INVESTIGATION OF ALLEGATIONS OF COUNCILLOR MISCONDUCT

# **Contents**

Parag No.	raph		Page No.
	Intro	duction and summary	1
1.	Inter	pretation	2
2.		cication of reference of allegations to the Monitoring Officer	2 - 4
	(a)	Appointment of Investigating Officer	
	(b)	Notification to the Councillor	
	(c)	Notification to the Standards Committee	
	(d)	Notification to the Parish Council Clerk	
	(e)	Notification to the person who made the allegation (the Complainant)	
	(f)	Initial response of the Councillor	
	(g)	Supporting information from the person who made the allegation	
3.	Cond	luct of the Investigation	4 - 6
	(a)	Purpose of the Investigation	
	(b)	Termination of the Investigation	
	(c)	Additional matters	
	(d)	Identification of people from whom the Investigating Office will seek information	er
	(e)	Production of documents, information and explanation	
	(f)	Interviews	
	(g)	Costs	
	(h)	Reference back to the Standards Board	
4.	The l	Oraft Report	7 - 8
5.	The l	Final Report	8 - 10
6.	Directions to the Monitoring Officer from an ESO other than investigation or determination		10

# PROCEDURE FOR LOCAL INVESTIGATION OF ALLEGATIONS OF COUNCILLOR MISCONDUCT

#### **Introduction and Summary**

- This note sets out the procedure which will be followed in the local investigation of allegations of misconduct by Councillors. This procedure will apply to allegations of breach of the authority's Code of Conduct by elected and co-opted members of the authority and the word "Councillor" is to be taken to refer to all such persons. No material departure will be made from this procedure unless and until the Monitoring Officer has first notified the Councillor against whom the allegation has been made of the proposed material variation to the procedure and the reasons for that variation.
- Where the Standards Board for England receives an allegation that a Councillor has breached the authority's Code of Conduct for Members, the Board refers the allegation to an Ethical Standards Officer for investigation. At any point in that investigation the Ethical Standards Officer may determine that the allegation should be referred to the authority's Monitoring Officer (or in the case of a Parish Council, to the Monitoring Officer of the local District Council). If the matter is referred before the Ethical Standards Officer has completed his/her investigation, the Monitoring Officer is then required to arrange for an Investigating Officer to investigate the allegation and to report the matter to the authority's Standards Committee (or to a Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee convened for the purpose). Where the Investigating Officer has found, after investigation, that the Councillor has not acted in breach of the relevant authority's Code of Conduct, the Standards Committee must meet to decide whether to accept that finding or to proceed to a formal hearing. Where the Investigating Officer has found that there has been a failure to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct, or where the Standards Committee decides to hold a full hearing, there will then be a formal hearing to determine whether a breach of the relevant Code of Conduct has occurred and whether any action should be taken in consequence.
- In this process, the function of the Investigating Officer is to ensure, as far as possible, that all the information which is relevant to the allegation is identified and presented to the Standards Committee, to enable the Standards Committee to come to an informed decision as to whether the Councillor has failed to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct, and upon any consequential action. The Standards Committee acts in an inquisitorial manner, rather than an adversarial manner, seeking the truth in relation to the conduct of the Councillor on the balance of the information available to it, and may commission further investigation or information if it needs to do so in order to come to a decision.

#### 1 **Interpretation**

- (a) "Councillor" means the member of the authority who is the subject of the allegation being considered by the Standards Committee, unless stated otherwise. It also includes the Councillor's representative.
- (b) "Investigating Officer" means the Ethical Standards Officer (ESO) who referred the report to the authority (and his or her nominated representative) or, in the case of matters that have been referred for local investigation, references to the Investigating Officer mean the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to undertake that investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer, and his or her representative).
- (c) "The Matter" is the subject matter of the Investigating Officer's report.
- (d) "The Standards Committee" refers to the Standards Committee or to any Standards Sub-Committee to which has been delegated the conduct of the hearing, unless the context indicates that it refers only to the Standards Committee itself.

# 2 Notification of Reference of Allegation to the Monitoring Officer

# (a) Appointment of Investigating Officer

Upon receipt of the allegation from an Ethical Standards Officer, the Monitoring Officer will appoint an Investigating Officer in respect of the allegation and instruct him/her to conduct an investigation of the allegation and to report thereon to the authority's Standards Committee. The Investigating Officer may be an officer of the authority, an officer of another local authority, or an external Investigating Officer. There are two distinct roles, that of the Investigating Officer and that of legal advisor to the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer may him/herself take on the role of Investigating Officer. Where he/she does so, he/she must also arrange for a separate legal advisor to the Standards Committee in respect of the allegation.

The Investigating Officer may appoint persons to assist him/her in the conduct of his/her functions and may obtain such professional advice as may be necessary for the conduct of the investigation.

#### (b) **Notification to the Councillor**

The Monitoring Officer will then notify in writing the Councillor against whom the allegation is made:

- (i) that the allegation has been referred to him for local investigation and determination;
- (ii) the identity of the person making the allegation (unless identification of the complainant might prejudice the investigation or put the complainant at risk);
- (iii) of the conduct which is the subject of the allegation;

- (iv) of the section(s) of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which appear to him to be relevant to the allegation;
- (v) of the procedure which will be followed in respect of the allegation, and
- (vi) of the identity of the Investigating Officer.

The Monitoring Officer shall provide the Councillor with a copy of any report received from the Ethical Standards Officer.

In very exceptional cases, where the Monitoring Officer has reason to believe that there is a serious risk of intimidation of witnesses or destruction of evidence, the Monitoring Officer may initiate an investigation before notifying the Councillor.

#### (c) Notification to the Standards Committee

At this stage the Monitoring Officer will not notify the members of the Standards Committee that a matter has been referred for investigation.

#### (d) Notification to the Parish or Town Council Clerk

Where the allegation relates to the conduct of a member of a Parish Council in his/her capacity as such, at the same time as notifying the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Clerk of the Parish Council concerned in writing of the matters set out in paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above.

#### (e) Notification to the Person who made the Allegation

At the same time as notifying the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will notify the person who made the allegation in writing of the matters set out in paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above.

#### (f) Initial response of the Councillor

In notifying the Councillor of receipt of the allegation, the Monitoring Officer shall request the Councillor to respond to the Investigating Officer in writing within 14 days of notification as follows:

- (i) advising the Investigating Officer whether the Councillor admits or denies the breach of the Code of Conduct which is the subject of the allegation;
- (ii) listing any documents which the Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of the allegation, where possible providing copies of these documents, and informing the Investigating Officer where the original documents may be inspected,
- (iii) providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any person

or organisation whom the Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any investigation of the allegation, and

(iv) providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer to seek from any person or organisation.

# (g) Supporting information from the person who made the allegation

In notifying the person who made the allegation as above, the Monitoring Officer will request the person to respond to the Investigating Officer within 14 days

- (i) listing any documents which the person would wish the Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of the allegation, where possible providing copies of these documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the original documents may be inspected,
- (ii) providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any person or organisation whom the person would wish the Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any investigation of the allegation, and
- (iii) providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the person would wish the Investigating Officer to seek from any person or organisation.

## **3** Conduct of Investigation

#### (a) **Purpose of the Investigation**

The purpose of the Investigating Officer's investigation is to enable him/her to prepare and present to the Standards Committee a report which, together with any report provided by the Ethical Standards Officer, would provide the Standards Committee with sufficient information to determine whether the Councillor has acted in breach of the relevant Code of Conduct and, where there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct whether any action should be taken in respect of the Councillor or in consequence of the breach, and what any such action should be.

#### (b) **Termination of the Investigation**

The Investigating Officer may terminate his/her investigation at any point, where he/she is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to enable him/her to report to the Standards Committee and to enable the Standards Committee to come to a considered decision on the allegation.

#### (c) Additional Matters

Where, in the course of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer becomes aware of any other matter which appears to him/her to indicate a breach of the Code of Conduct by the Councillor other than the breach which he/she is currently investigating, the Investigating Officer shall report the matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the Councillor with details of the matter in the form set out in paragraphs 2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the Councillor to provide a statement as to why the additional matter does not constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct,. The Monitoring Officer will then determine whether to report the additional matter to the Standards Board for England.

# (d) Identification of people from whom Investigating Officer will seek information

Following notification to the Councillor, the Investigating Officer will identify an initial list of persons to be interviewed, organisations from whom information is to be sought and documents to be inspected as part of the investigation. Where the Councillor has provided the Investigating Officer with the information requested in accordance with Paragraphs 2(f)(ii) and (iii) above, the Investigating Officer shall include in this list each document, person and organisation referred to in that response, unless he/she is of the opinion that the inclusion of that document, person or organisation would unreasonably delay the completion of the investigation rather than contribute to the accuracy of the Investigating Officer's final report. The Investigating Officer may supplement or amend this list at any stage of the investigation.

# (e) Production of documents, information and explanations

- (i) In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and any person authorised on his/her behalf may make such enquiries of any person or organisation, and request any person or organisation to provide any document or information which is in his/its possession or control, or provide any explanation, as he/she thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation.
- (ii) In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and any person authorised on his/her behalf may require any authority of which the Councillor is a member to provide any document which is in his/its possession or control which he/she thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation.

#### (f) Interviews

## (i) Requesting attendance

In the course of the investigation the Investigating Officer may request any person to attend and appear before him or otherwise provide any information, document or explanation for the purpose of Paragraph 3(e) above, as he/she thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation.

# (ii) Representation

Any person who appears before the Investigating Officer may arrange to be accompanied at their own expense by a solicitor or friend.

#### (iii) Notes of interviews

Where practicable, following the interview the Investigating Officer shall produce a written note of the material points of the interview, provide two copies of that note to the person interviewed and ask them to return one copy signed as a correct record of the interview, with such corrections or amendments as they may feel necessary for that purpose.

### (g) Costs

The Investigating Officer may, where he/she considers that it is appropriate in order to facilitate the conduct of the investigation, pay to any person who provides any document, information, advice or explanation in response to his/her request, such fees or allowances as he/she considers to be appropriate subject to any maxima set by the authority.

#### (h) Reference back to the Standards Board

At any point in the course of the investigation, if the Investigating Officer is of the opinion

- (i) that the seriousness of the matters which he/she is investigating, including any additional matters identified under Paragraph 3(c) above, is such that they may merit the application of a sanction beyond the powers of the Standards Committee, or
- (ii) that the nature of the allegations is such that it would be inappropriate for the Standards Committee to determine the matter,

he/she may, after consulting the Monitoring Officer, suspend his/her investigation and the Monitoring Officer shall then request the Ethical Standards Officer to resume his investigation of the matter.

Where the Ethical Standards Officer does resume his investigation, the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the Councillor concerned, the person who made the complaint, the members of the Standards Committee and any Parish Council is informed of such resumption. Where the Ethical Standards Officer declines to resume his investigation, the Monitoring Officer shall instruct the Investigating Officer to resume his investigation.

#### 4 The Draft Report

- (a) When the Investigating Officer is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to meet the requirement set out in Paragraph 3(a), or has obtained as much information as is likely to be reasonably capable of being obtained, he/she shall prepare a draft report setting out:
  - (i) the details of the allegation;
  - (ii) the relevant provisions of statute, of the Code of Conduct and any relevant local Protocols
  - (iii) the Councillor's initial response to notification of the allegation (if any);
  - (iv) the relevant information, advice and explanations which he/she has obtained in the course of the investigation;
  - (v) a list of any documents relevant to the matter;
  - (vi) a list of those persons whom he/she has interviewed and those organisations from whom he/she has sought information;
  - (vii) a note of any person or organisation who has failed to cooperate with the investigation and the manner in which they have failed to co-operate;
  - (viii) a statement of his/her draft findings of fact;
  - (ix) his/her conclusion as to whether the Councillor has or has not failed to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct, and
  - (x) any recommendations which the Investigating Officer is minded to make to any authority concerned for reviewing or reconsidering any decision which was the subject of the breach of the Code of Conduct, for rectifying any deficiency in the authority's decision-making procedures or for preventing or deterring any breach of the Code of Conduct or to remedy the position of any person who may have suffered detriment or injustice as a result of the breach.
  - **NB:** Where the allegation relates to a Parish Councillor, such recommendations would be recommendations which the Investigating Officer would recommend that the Standards Committee make to the Parish Council.
- (b) The draft report should also state that the report does not necessarily represent the Investigating Officer's final finding, and that the Investigating Officer will present a final report to the Standards Committee once he/she has considered any comments received on the draft report.

- (c) The Investigating Officer shall then send a copy of his/her draft report in confidence to the Councillor and the person making the allegation, and request that they send any comments thereon to him/her within 14 days. The Investigating Officer shall also send a copy of his/her draft report to the Monitoring Officer.
- (d) The Investigating Officer may send a copy of, or relevant extracts from his/her draft report in confidence to any person on whose evidence he/she has relied in compiling the draft report, and request that they send any comments thereon to him/her within 14 days.

### 5 The Final Report

- (a) After the expiry of that period (or such extended period as the Investigating Officer may allow), the Investigating Officer shall reconsider and amend his/her draft report in the light of any comments received, and produce and send to the Monitoring Officer his final report. The final report should state that the report represents the Investigating Officer's final findings and will be presented to the Standards Committee, and should have appended to it copies of any documents which the Investigating Officer has relied on in reaching his/her conclusions, such as background documents of telephone conversations, letters, and notes of interviews with witnesses;
- (b) The Monitoring Officer shall then send a copy of the final report to the Councillor, advising that:
  - (i) where the final **report concludes that there has not been a failure to comply** with the Code of Conduct, he/she will refer the report to the Standards Committee for their consideration, and
  - (ii) where the final **report concludes that there has been a failure by** the Councillor to comply with the Code of Conduct, he/she will refer the report to the Standards Committee for a formal hearing.
- (c) The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that, when the agenda for the Standards Committee is sent out to members of the Standards Committee, including the final report, the agenda and the report are also sent to:
  - (i) The person who made the complaint;
  - (ii) The Clerk to the Parish (if any); and
  - (iii) The Ethical Standards Officer

together with a note explaining the circumstances under which the Standards Committee may conduct a hearing into the allegations, and the procedure for these events.

- (d) Where the Standards Committee considers the report in accordance with Paragraph 5(b)(i) above, it shall make one of the following findings:
  - (i) That it accepts the Investigating Officer's finding that the Councillor has not failed to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct as set out in the allegation;
  - (ii) That the matter should be considered at a hearing of the Standards Committee, conducted in accordance with the authority's adopted Procedure for Local Determination Hearings.
- NB: This is not a finding that there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, but simply that, on the basis of the Investigating Officer's report, the Standards Committee is not at this stage prepared to come to a final conclusion that there has been no such failure to comply, and that the matter merits consideration at a full hearing.
- (e) Where the Standards Committee finds as set out in Paragraph 5(d)(i) above (no failure to comply with the Code of Conduct), the Monitoring Officer shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, send a written notice of that finding and the reasons on which it was based, together with a copy of the Investigating Officer's report to
  - (i) The Councillor;
  - (ii) The Ethical Standards Officer;
  - (iii) The Standards Committee, if the finding was made by a Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee;
  - (iv) The Standards Committee of any other local authority (other than a Parish Council) of which the Councillor is also a member
  - (v) The Parish Council, if the Councillor was also a member of a Parish Council, and
  - (vi) The person who made the allegation.

And shall ask the Councillor whether he objects to the publication of a notice of the finding in at least one local newspaper, and arrange for the publication of such a notice unless the Councillor so objects.

(f) Where the Standards Committee finds as set out in Paragraph 5(d)(ii) above (that the matter should be considered at a full hearing) or the Investigating Officer's report contains a finding that the Councillor did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the matter to be considered at such a hearing in accordance with the authority's adopted Procedure for Local Determination Hearings, subject to the following variations:

- (i) The hearing shall be conducted no sooner than 14 days from, and no later than 3 months from the date on which the Monitoring Officer received the final report of the Investigating Officer;
- (ii) the report of the Investigating Officer shall be treated as if it constituted the report of the Ethical Standards Officer; and
- (iii) the Investigating Officer shall be responsible for presenting the report to the Standards Committee and introducing any witnesses whom he considers that the Standards Committee should hear in order to be able to give the matter proper consideration.

# 6. Other Directions to the Monitoring Officer from an ESO other than investigation or determination

- 6.1 Not all referrals to the Monitoring Officer from an ESO will require investigation. An ESO can decide that some form of action other than investigation or determination is required. This is most likely to happen in situations where the ESO considers that a case has broad relevance for the ethical governance of the council. For example, the ESO may direct the Monitoring Officer to make recommendations to the Standards Committee about wider issues for the authority raised by the case, or to ensure that the parties concerned attempt some form of reconciliation.
- 6.2 The Monitoring Officer should report back to the ESO within 3 months of receiving the directions on the outcome of actions taken or with details of proposed actions.
- 6.3 If the ESO is not satisfied with the action taken or proposed to be taken, the ESO may require the Monitoring Officer to arrange for the publication of a statement giving details of the direction and the Monitoring Officer's reasons for not fully implementing the directions.

# APPENDIX B

# PROCEDURE FOR LOCAL DETERMINATION HEARINGS

## **Contents**

Parag No.	graph		Page No
1.	Interpretation	1	1
2.	Modification	of Procedure	1
3.	Representation	on	1 - 2
4.	Pre-hearing I	Procedure	2
5.	Legal Advice	e to the Committee	2
6.	Setting the so	eene at the hearing	2
7.	Preliminary p	procedural issues	2 - 3
8.	_	of the allegations of failure to comply with the duct	4 - 7
9.	If the Membe	er has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct	7
10.		quent upon a failure to comply with the duct	7 - 8
11.	Reference ba	ck to the Ethical Standards Officer	8 - 9
12.	The close of	the hearing/Appeals	9
APPI	ENDICES:	The Pre Hearing Procedure	10 – 12
		Admission of Press & Public	13 – 14
		Categories of Exempt Information	15 - 16

#### PROCEDURE FOR LOCAL DETERMINATION HEARINGS

# 1. Interpretation

- (a) 'Member' means the member or co-opted or former member of a relevant authority who is the subject of the allegation being considered by the Committee, unless stated otherwise. It also includes the member's nominated representative.
- (b) 'Investigator' or 'Investigating Officer' means the Ethical Standards Officer (ESO) who referred the report to the authority, and includes his or her nominated representative.<sup>1</sup> In the case of matters referred to for local investigation, references to the Investigator or Investigating Officer mean the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to undertake the investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer and his/her nominated representative).
- (c) 'The Matter' is the subject matter of the investigator's report.
- (d) 'The Committee' refers to the Standards Committee or to any Standards Sub-Committee to which it has delegated the conduct of the hearing.
- (e) 'The Committee Support Officer' means an officer of the authority responsible for supporting the Committee's discharge of its functions and recording the decisions of the Committee.
- (f) 'Legal Advisor' means the officer responsible for providing legal advice to the Committee. This may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally qualified officer of the authority, or someone appointed for this purpose from outside the authority.
- (g) 'The Chairman' refers to the person presiding at the hearing.

#### 2. **Modification of Procedure**

The Chairman may agree to vary this procedure in any particular instance where he/she is of the opinion that such a variation is necessary in the interests of fairness.

# 3. **Representation**

The Member may be represented or accompanied during the meeting by a solicitor, counsel or, with the permission of the Committee, another person other than someone who will also be a witness. Note that the cost of such

In practice, the matter is referred by the ESO to the Monitoring Officer, who is then responsible for reporting the matter to the Committee. It is, therefore, convenient for the Monitoring Officer to conduct the pre-hearing process and to present the introductory report to the Committee at the commencement of the hearing.

representation must be met by the Member, unless the Committee has expressly agreed to meet all or any part of that cost.<sup>2</sup>

# 4. The Pre-Hearing Procedure

The Monitoring Officer shall conduct the Pre-Hearing Procedure in accordance with the attached procedure.

### 5. **Legal Advice**

The Committee may take legal advice from its Legal Advisor at any time during the hearing or while they are considering the outcome. The substance of any legal advice given to the Committee should be shared with the Member and the Investigator if they are present.<sup>3</sup>

#### 6. Setting the Scene at the Hearing

At the start of the hearing, the Chairman shall introduce each of the members of the Committee, the Member (if present), the Investigator (if present) and any other officers present, and shall then explain the procedure which the Committee will follow in the conduct of the hearing.

# 7. **Preliminary Procedural Issues**

The Committee shall then deal with the following preliminary procedural matters in the following order:

#### (a) Disclosures of interest

The Chairman shall ask members of the Committee to disclose the existence and nature of any personal or prejudicial interests which they have in the matter, and to withdraw from consideration of the matter if so required.

#### (b) Quorum

The Chairman shall confirm that the Committee is quorate.<sup>4</sup>

#### (c) Hearing Procedure

\_

Once regulations are made under Section 100 of the Local Government Act 2000, authorities will have a discretion to provide an indemnity to Councillors in specified circumstances.

In the interests of openness, the Committee may prefer to receive any such advice in the main hearing room in the presence of the Investigator and the Member. Where this is not practicable, the Legal Advisor should repeat in the presence of the Investigator and the Member the advice which he/she has tendered.

A meeting of the Committee is not quorate unless at least three Members of the Committee are present for the duration of the meeting. The three Members must include at least one Independent Member, unless an Independent Member would have been present but was precluded from participating in any of the business of the Committee in consequence of a prejudicial interest under the Council's Code of Conduct. If the Committee is responsible for Parish Council matters, it must include at least one Parish Council representative amongst its Members. However it is only a requirement that the parish representative is actually present when the Committee is dealing with a parish matter. Parish Sub-Committee, convened to deal with a parish matter, must have a parish representative as a Member of the Sub-Committee, but there is no requirement for him/her actually to attend the meeting for it to be quorate. [The Relevant Authorities (Standards Committee) Regulations 2001, Regulations 3 and 6. SI 2001 No. 2812].

The Chairman shall confirm that all present know the procedure which the Committee will follow in determining the matter.

### (d) Proceeding in the absence of the Member

If the Member is not present at the start of the hearing:-

- (i) the Chairman shall ask the Monitoring Officer whether the Member has indicated his/her intention not to attend the hearing;
- (ii) the Committee shall then consider any reasons which the Member has provided for not attending the hearing and shall decide whether it is satisfied that there is sufficient reason for such failure to attend:
- (iii) if the Committee is satisfied with such reasons, it shall adjourn the hearing to another date subject to its overriding duty to determine the Matter within three months;
- (iv) if the Committee is not satisfied with such reasons, or if the Member has not given any such reasons, the Committee shall decide whether to consider the Matter and make a determination in the absence of the Member or to adjourn the hearing to another date.

#### (e) Exclusion of Press and Public

The Committee may exclude the press and public from its consideration of this Matter where it appears likely that confidential or exempt information will be disclosed in the course of this consideration.

The Chairman shall ask the Member, the Investigator and the Legal Advisor to the Committee whether they wish to ask the Committee to exclude the Press or public from all or any part of the hearing. If any of them so request, the Chairman shall ask them to put forward reasons for so doing and ask for responses from the others and the Committee shall then determine whether to exclude the press and public from all or any part of the hearing.

Where the Committee does not resolve to exclude press and public, the agenda and any documents which have been withheld from the press and public in advance of the meeting shall then be made available to the press and public.

# 8. The Hearing of the Allegations of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct<sup>5</sup>

The Committee will then address the issue of whether the Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct in the manner set out in the Investigator's report.<sup>6</sup>

- (a) The Chairman shall ask the Member to confirm that he/she maintains the position as set out in the pre-hearing summary.
- (b) The Pre-Hearing Process Summary

The Chairman will ask the Legal Advisor or the Committee Support Officer<sup>7</sup> to present his/her report, highlighting any points of difference in respect of which the Member has stated that he/she disagrees with any finding of fact in the Investigator's report. The Chairman will then ask the Member to confirm that this is an accurate summary of the issues and ask the Member to identify any additional points upon which he/she disagrees with any finding of fact in the Investigator's report.

- (i) If the Member admits that he/she has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct in the manner described in the Investigator's report, the Committee may then make a determination that the member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct in the manner described in the Investigator's report and proceed directly to consider whether any action should be taken (Paragraph 8).
- (ii) If the Member identifies additional points of difference, the Chairman shall ask the Member to explain why he/she did not identify these points as part of the pre-hearing process. He/she shall then ask the Investigator (if present) whether he/she is in a

The model procedure recommended by the Standards Board suggests that the Committee should first determine findings of fact and then determine whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. I suggest that these two are so closely connected that the Committee may find that it can conveniently determine the two together without any loss of fairness.

Note that the Committee's consideration is limited to a possible failure to comply with the Code of Conduct in the terms set out in the Investigator's report. It is possible that, in the course of their consideration, the Committee apprehend that the Member may have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct in some other manner (for example that the Member's alleged failure to treat a person with respect appears also, or in the alternative, to be conduct likely to bring the Member's office or authority into disrepute). Note that such a possible additional or alternative failure will not, at that stage be able to be considered since the Member will not have had notice of the Committee's consideration of the possible additional or alternative failure and that it would therefore be unfair to proceed to consider that second matter at the hearing into the first alleged failure. Where the Committee do apprehend a possible additional or alternative failure, a failure by a different member, or a failure in respect of the code of conduct of another authority, they should refer the second matter to the Monitoring Officer with a view to a separate allegation being made to the Standards Boards for England.

As set out above, unless conflicted out, it is likely that the Monitoring Officer will:-

<sup>(</sup>i) take on the conduct of the pre-hearing process;

<sup>(</sup>ii) present an introductory report to the Committee at the commencement of the hearing setting out the outcomes of the pre-hearing process;

<sup>(</sup>iii) will (if legally qualified) act as the Legal Advisor to the Committee; and

<sup>(</sup>iv) will distribute and publish any required notices of the Committee's determination.

However, there may be reasons in particular cases for the Monitoring Officer to arrange for any or all of these functions to be carried out on his/her behalf.

position to deal with those additional points of difference directly or through any witnesses who are in attendance or whose attendance at the hearing can conveniently be arranged. Where the Committee is not satisfied with the Member's reasons for failing to identify each additional point of difference as part of the pre-hearing process, it may decide that it will continue the hearing but without allowing the member to challenge the veracity of those findings of fact which are set out in the Investigator's report but in respect of which the member did not identify a point of difference as part of the pre-hearing process, or it may decide to adjourn the hearing to allow the Investigator and/or any additional witnesses to attend the hearing.

#### (c) Presenting the Investigator's report

- (i) If the Investigator is present, the Chairman will then ask the Investigator to present his/her report, having particular regard to any points of difference identified by the Member and why he/she concluded, on the basis of his/her findings of fact, that the Member had failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. The Investigator may call witnesses as necessary to address any points of difference.
- (ii) If the Investigator is not present, the Committee shall only conduct a hearing if they are satisfied that there are no substantial points of difference or that any points of difference can be satisfactorily resolved in the absence of the Investigator. In the absence of the investigator, the Committee shall determine on the advice of the Monitoring Officer which witnesses, if any, to call. Where such witnesses are called, the Chairman shall draw the witnesses attention to any relevant section of the Investigator's report and ask the witness to confirm or correct the report and to provide any relevant evidence.
- (iii) No cross-examination shall be permitted but, at the conclusion of the Investigator's report and/or of the evidence of each witness, the Chairman shall ask the Member if there are any matters upon which the Committee should seek the advice of the Investigator or the witness.

#### (d) The Member's response

- (i) The Chairman shall then invite the Member to respond to the Investigator's report and to call any witnesses as necessary to address any points of difference.
- (ii) No cross-examination shall be permitted but, at the conclusion of the Member's evidence and/or of the evidence of each witness, the Chairman shall ask the Investigator if there are any matters upon which the Committee should seek the advice of the Member or the witness.

#### (e) Witnesses

- (i) The Committee shall be entitled to refuse to hear evidence from the Investigator, the Member or a witness unless they are satisfied that the witness is likely to give evidence which they need to hear in order to be able to determine whether there has been a failure to comply with the code of conduct.
- (ii) Any Member of the Committee may address questions to the Investigator, to the Member or to any witness.
- (f) Determination as to whether there was a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct
  - (i) At the conclusion of the Member's response, the Chairman shall ensure that each member of the Committee is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to enable him/her to determine whether there has been a failure to comply with the code of conduct as set out in the Investigator's report. If the Standards Committee at any stage prior to determining whether there was a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct are of the opinion that they require additional evidence on any point in order to be able to come to a considered conclusion on the matter, the Standards Committee may (on not more than one occasion) adjourn the hearing and make a request to the Investigating Officer to seek and provide such additional evidence and to undertake further investigation on any point specified by the Standards Committee.
  - (ii) Unless the determination merely confirms the Member's admission of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct (as set out in Paragraph 6(b)(i) above), the Committee shall then retire to another room to consider in private whether the Member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct as set out in the Investigator's report.
  - (iii) The Committee shall take its decision on the balance of probability based on the evidence which it has received at the hearing.
  - (iv) The Committee's function is to make a determination on the matter. It may, at any time, return to the main hearing room in order to seek additional evidence from the Investigator, the Member or a witness, or to seek the legal advice from or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. If it requires any further information, it may adjourn and instruct an officer or request the Member to produce such further evidence to the Committee.

- (v) At the conclusion of the Committee's consideration, the Committee shall consider whether it is minded to make any recommendations to the authority with a view to promoting high standards of conduct among Members.
- (vi) The Committee shall then return to the main hearing room and the Chairman will state the Committee's principal findings of fact and their determination as to whether the member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct as set out in the Investigator's report.

#### 9. If the Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct

If the Committee determines that the Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct in the manner set out in the Investigator's report:

- (a) If the Committee apprehends, from the evidence which they have received during the hearing, that a member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct (other than the Matter which the Committee has just determined), the Chairman shall outline the Committee's concerns and state that the Committee has referred this additional or alternative failure to the Monitoring Officer with a view to a further allegation being made to the Standards Board for England.
- (b) The Chairman should then set out any recommendations which the Committee is minded to make to the authority with a view to promoting high standards of conduct among Members and seek the views of the Member, the Investigator and the Legal Advisor before the Committee finalises any such recommendations.
- (c) Finally, the Chairman should ask the Member whether he/she wishes the authority not to publish a statement of its finding in a local newspaper.

### 10. Action consequent upon a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct

(a) The Chairman shall ask the Investigator (if present, or otherwise the Legal Advisor) whether, in his/her opinion, the Member's failure to comply with the Code of Conduct is such that the Committee should impose a sanction and, if so, what would be the appropriate sanction.<sup>8</sup>

The sanctions which are available to the Committee under the Local Authorities (Code of Conduct) (Local Determination) Regulations 2003, Regulation 7, as amended by the Local Authorities (Code of Conduct) (Local Determination (Amendment) Regulations 2004 are any, or any combination, of the following:

"(i) censure of that member;

<sup>(</sup>ii) restriction for a period up to a maximum of three months of that member's access to the premises of the authority and that member's use of the resources of the authority, provided that any such restrictions imposed upon the member –

<sup>(</sup>aa) are reasonable and proportionate to the nature of the breach; and

<sup>(</sup>bb) do not unduly restrict the member's ability to perform his functions as a member;

<sup>(</sup>iii) partial suspension (a) of that member for a period up to a maximum of three months;

<sup>(</sup>iv) suspension (b) of that member for a period up to a maximum of three months;

<sup>(</sup>v) a requirement that that member submit a written apology in a form specified by the Standards Committee;

<sup>(</sup>vi) a requirement that that member undertake training as specified by the Standards Committee;

<sup>(</sup>vii) a requirement that the member undertake conciliation as specified by the Standards Committee;

- (b) The Chairman will then ask the Member to respond to the Investigator's advice.
- (c) The Chairman will then ensure that each member of the Committee is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to enable him/her to take an informed decision as to whether to impose a sanction and (if appropriate) as to the form of the sanction.
- (d) Any member of the Committee may address questions to the Investigator or to the Member as necessary to enable him/her to take such an informed decision.
- (e) The Committee shall then retire to another room to consider in private whether to impose a sanction, (where a sanction is to be imposed) what sanction to impose and when that sanction should take effect, and any recommendations which the Committee will make to the authority with a view to promoting high standards of conduct.
- (f) At the completion of their consideration, the Committee shall return to the main hearing room and the Chairman shall state the Committee's decisions as to whether to impose a sanction and (where a sanction is to be imposed) the nature of that sanction, and when it should take effect, together with the principal reasons for those decisions, and any recommendations which the Committee will make to the authority.

#### 11. Reference back to the Ethical Standards Officer

If at any time before the Committee has determined upon any appropriate sanction, it considers that the nature of the failure to comply with the Code of Conduct is such that the appropriate sanction would exceed the powers of the Committee, it may request the Monitoring Officer to refer the matter back to the Ethical Standards Officer and may adjourn the hearing until the

Any sanction imposed shall commence immediately unless the Committee direct (for any sanction other than censure) that it shall commence on any date specified by the Committee within six months of the date of the hearing. The effect of suspension is temporarily to deprive the Member of the benefits of any position within this authority from which the Member is suspended, for the duration of the suspension. Thus, during the period of suspension, a Member who is suspended from the Executive would lose any special responsibility allowances which he/she received as a Member of the Executive. A Member who is suspended in total would also lose any basic allowances for the duration of the suspension, and be unable to claim any travelling or subsistence allowances as they would not be incurring any such expenses in the discharge of their functions as a Councillor. But at the end of the period of suspension, the Councillor would automatically slot back into the positions which he/she held prior to the suspension, unless the Council had positively removed him/her from any such position in the meantime.

<sup>(</sup>viii) partial suspension of that member for a period up to a maximum of three months or until such time as he submits a written apology in a form specified by the Standards Committee;

<sup>(</sup>ix) partial suspension of that member for a period up to a maximum of three months or until such time as he undertakes such training or conciliation as the Standards Committee may specify;

<sup>(</sup>x) suspension of that member for a period up to a maximum of three months or until such time as he submits a written apology in a form specified by the Standards Committee;

<sup>(</sup>xi) suspension of that member for a period up to a maximum of three months or until such time as he undertakes such training or conciliation as the Standards Committee may specify".

<sup>(</sup>a) See section 83(7), (9) and (10) of the Act for the interpretation of partial suspension

<sup>(</sup>b) See section 83(9) and (10) of the Act for the interpretation of suspension.

Monitoring Officer advises the Committee of the Ethical Standards Officer's response to such a request.

#### 12. The Close of the Hearing/Appeals

- (a) The Committee will announce its decision on the day of the hearing and provide the Committee Support Officer with a short written statement of their decision, which the Committee Support Officer will deliver to the Member as soon as practicable after the close of the hearing;
- The Chairman will thank all those present who have contributed to the (b) conduct of the hearing and formally close the hearing
- Following the close of the hearing, the Committee Support officer will (c) agree a formal written notice of the Committee's determination and the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the distribution and publication of that notice (or a summary of that notice, where required) in accordance with Regulation 8 of the Local Authorities (Code of Conduct)(Local Determination) Regulations 2003.9
- The notice to the Member shall include a statement as to the rights of (d) the Member to seek permission to appeal from the president of the Adjudication Panel within 21 days of receipt of notification of the finding and shall provide the Member with the necessary appeal form.

Note that the summary will include:-

<sup>(</sup>a) the name of the Member

<sup>(</sup>b) the alleged failure to comply with the Code of Conduct

<sup>(</sup>c) the finding of the Committee that the Member did or did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct

<sup>(</sup>d) the details of any failure

<sup>(</sup>e) brief reasons for the finding (f) any sanction or other action determined or recommended

<sup>(</sup>g) a statement that the Member has a right of appeal

#### THE PRE-HEARING PROCEDURE

# 1. **Purpose of Pre-Hearing Procedure**

The pre-hearing process is designed to address procedural issues in order to ensure local determinations are dealt with fairly and efficiently.

The aims are:-

- (a) to identify whether the member the subject of the hearing disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the report of the investigator;
- (b) to decide whether any disagreements are significant to the hearing;
- (c) to decide whether or not to hear evidence about these disagreements;
- (d) to decide whether any parts of the hearing should be held in private or any parts of the investigator's report should be withheld from the public.

# 2. Format of Pre-Hearing Procedure

The pre-hearing process will be conducted in writing by the Monitoring Officer.

#### 3. **Notification to the Member**

#### **Upon EITHER**

(i) reference of a matter from an Ethical Standards Officer for local determination following completion and receipt of the Ethical Standards Officer's report,

OR

- (ii) receipt of the final report of the Investigating Officer on a matter referred for local investigation which includes a finding that the member failed to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct or where the Standards Committee finds that the matter should be considered at a formal hearing, the Monitoring Officer will:-
- (a) arrange a (provisional) date for the hearing (not less than 35 days from the date the investigator's report is received by him but the hearing must be held within the period of three months from the date the Monitoring Officer received the final report) and identify the Committee or Sub-Committee by which the hearing will be held;
- (b) notify the members of the Committee/Sub-Committee of the date;
- (c) notify the member of the reference of the complaint for local determination (where relevant), of the provisional date for the hearing

and provide the member with a copy of the Investigator's report, the pre-hearing procedure note and the hearing procedure;

- (d) notify the Parish Clerk of the same matters in the case the relevant member is a Parish Councillor;
- (e) notify the complainant of the same matters.

## 4. **Pre-Hearing Inquiries of the Member**

Following notification under paragraph 3 the Monitoring Officer will write to the member and require him to complete and return within 14 days (or such longer period as the Monitoring Officer shall in his discretion permit) Forms A to E substantially in the form recommended by the Standards Board. These forms will ask the member to identify findings of fact with which the member disagrees; identify any additional evidence relevant to the allegation, and to provide detailed information relevant to attendance at the hearing and calling of witnesses and views on the need for private hearings in whole or part.

- Notes: (a) The presumption is that the hearing will be conducted in public and that all documentation will be available for public inspection at least five clear days before the hearing. The decision to conduct all or any part of the hearing in private or to withhold any document from public inspection will be taken in accordance with the legal provisions on access to information in the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) having due regard to the Human Rights Act 1998. A note on admission of press and public to Standards Committee hearings is attached to the Hearing Procedure.
  - (b) Having been given an opportunity to identify disagreement with the findings of fact contained in the report of the investigator, the member will not be permitted to raise at the hearing any new disagreement, unless exceptional reasons exist for doing so e.g. as a result of new evidence which has only just become available.
  - (c) The provisional hearing date will not be changed unless the reasons why he/she/the representative is unable to attend on the proposed date. Even where there are good reasons to change a date, the hearing may have to take place in the absence of the member or representative if necessary to enable the Committee/Sub-Committee to make a determination within the period required by law.
  - (d) If the member fails or declines to acknowledge receipt of the investigator's report or return the Forms A to E (or any of them) or decides not to attend the hearing, the Committee or Sub-Committee may hear the case in his absence.

### 5. **Pre-Hearing Inquiries of the Investigator**

On receipt of the response of the member to the investigator's report and the forms referred to in section 4 (or on the expiry of 14 days or such longer period as has been permitted from their being sent to the member whichever is the sooner), the Monitoring Officer will:-

- (a) notify the investigator of the date of the hearing;
- (b) invite the investigator to comment on the member's response (if any) within 14 days and indicate whether he intends to attend the hearing or be represented or give evidence or call witnesses and whether he wishes any part of the hearing to be held in private or any part of his report to be withheld from the public;
- (c) invite the attendance of the investigator if the proper conduct of the hearing requires it in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer.

## 6. **Preparations for Hearing**

- (a) The Monitoring Officer shall identify any areas of dispute between the member and the investigator and arrange for the attendance of any necessary witnesses to enable the hearing to resolve any such points of difference.
- (b) The Monitoring Officer shall have the discretion to decide whether the hearing date should be changed and, subject to ratification by a resolution of the Committee or Sub-Committee conducting the hearing, whether any part of the hearing should be conducted in private or any part of the investigator's report or documents should be withheld from the public.
- (c) The Monitoring Officer shall prepare a Pre-Hearing Summary Report summarising:-
  - (i) the complaint;
  - (ii) the investigator's report and findings;
  - (iii) the conduct of the pre-hearing procedure recording any facts which are not agreed, who will be present at the hearing and the witnesses to be called;
  - (iv) the key issues to be determined by the hearing;
  - (v) enclosing a copy of the adopted hearing procedure;

and he shall provide the Proper Officer with this report together with all relevant documents to be sent to the member, the complainant and members of the Committee/Sub-Committee together with an agenda for the meeting.

# ADMISSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC TO STANDARDS COMMITTEE DETERMINATION HEARINGS

The Standards Board for England recommends that hearings should be held in public where possible to make sure that the hearing process is open and fair. However, there may be some circumstances where parts of the hearing should be held in private.

- 1. At the hearing, the Committee will consider whether or not the public should be excluded from any part of the hearing, in line with Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (as modified in relation to local determinations by Standards Committees). If the Committee considers that 'confidential information' is likely to be revealed during the hearing, the Committee must exclude the public by law. 'Confidential information' is defined for these purposes to mean information that has been provided by a Government department under the condition that it must not be revealed, and information that the law or a court order says cannot be revealed.
- 2. The Committee also has the discretion to exclude the public if it considers that 'exempt information' is likely to be revealed during the hearing. The categories of 'exempt information' are set out below. The Committee should act in line with Article 6 of the *European Convention on Human Rights*, which gives people the right to a fair trial and public hearing by an independent and unbiased tribunal. The Committee also has a duty to act fairly and in line with the rules of natural justice.
- 3. Article 6 says that the public may be excluded from all or part of the hearing if it is in the interests of:-
  - (a) Morals;
  - (b) public order;
  - (c) justice;
  - (d) natural security in a democratic society; or
  - (e) protecting young people under 18 and the private lives of anyone involved.
- 4. There should be a public hearing unless the Committee decides that there is a good reason, which falls within one of the five categories above (3a to e), for the public to be excluded.
- 5. The Committee must also act in line with Article 10 of the *European Convention on Human Rights*, which sets out the right for people to 'receive and impart information and ideas without interference by public authority'. Any restrictions on this right must be 'prescribed by law and....necessary in a democratic society, in the interests of national security, territorial integrity or public safety, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, for the protection of the reputation or rights of others, for preventing the disclosure of information received in confidence, or for maintaining the authority and impartiality of the judiciary'.

- 6. Conflicting rights often have to be balanced against each other. The Committee must act in line with Article 8 of the *European Convention on Human Rights*. Article 8 says that everyone has the right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence. It says that no public authority (such as the Committee) may interfere with this right unless it is:-
  - (a) in line with the law; and
  - (b) necessary in a democratic society in the interests of:
    - (i) national security;
    - (ii) public safety;
    - (iii) the economic well-being of the country;
    - (iv) preventing crime or disorder;
    - (v) protecting people's health and morals (which would include protecting standards of behaviour in public life); or
    - (vi) protecting people's rights and freedoms.

There is a clear public interest in promoting the probity (integrity and honesty) of public authorities and public confidence in them. For these reasons the hearing should be held in public unless the Committee decides that protecting the privacy of anyone involved is more important than the need for a public hearing.

- 7. In relation to people's rights under both Articles 8 and 10 of the *European Convention on Human Rights*, it should be remembered that any interference with or restriction of those rights must be 'necessary' and must meet 'a pressing social need', and any restriction on people's rights must be 'proportionate'.
- 8. The Standards Board for England recommends that a Standards Committee should move to a private room when considering its decisions. This will not conflict with the rights under the *European Convention on Human Rights* or the duty to act fairly.

# CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION UNDER SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (AS MODIFIED IN RELATION TO LOCAL DETERMINATIONS BY STANDARDS COMMITTEE)

- 1. Information relating to a particular employee, former employee or applicant to become an employee of, or a particular office-holder, former office-holder or applicant to become an office-holder under, the authority.
- 2. Information relating to a particular employee, former employee or applicant to become an employee of, or a particular office-holder, former office-holder or applicant to become an office-holder appointed by:-
  - (a) a magistrates' court committee;
  - (b) a probation committee within the meaning of the Probation Service Act 1993; or
  - (c) a local probation board within the meaning of the Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000.
- 2A. Information relating to a particular chief officer, former chief officer or applicant to become a chief officer of a local probation board within the meaning of the Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000.
- 3. Information relating to any particular occupier or former occupier of, or applicant for, accommodation provided by or at the expense of the authority.
- 4. Information relating to any particular applicant for, or recipient or former recipient of, any service provided by the authority.
- 5. Information relating to any particular applicant for, or recipient or former recipient of, any financial assistance provided by the authority.
- 6. Information relating to the adoption, care, fostering or education of any particular child.
- 7. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (other than the authority).
- 8. The amount of any expenditure proposed to be incurred by the authority under any particular contract for the acquisition of property or the supply of goods or services.
- 9. Any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the authority in the course of negotiations for a contract for the acquisition or disposal of property or the supply of goods or services.
- 10. The identity of the authority (as well as of any other person, by virtue of paragraph 7 above) as the person offering any particular tender for a contract for the supply of goods or services.

- 11. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matters arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office-holders under, the authority.
- 12. Any instructions to counsel and any opinion of counsel (whether or not in connection with any proceedings) and any advice received, information obtained or action to be taken in connection with:-
  - (a) any legal proceedings by or against the authority; or
  - (b) the determination of any matter, affecting the authority;

(whether in either case, proceedings have been commenced or are in contemplation).

- 13. Information which, if disclosed to the public, would reveal that the authority proposes:-
  - (a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
  - (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.
- 14. Any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.
- 15. The identity of a protected informant.
- 16. Information relating to the personal circumstances of any person.
- 17. Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality.
- 18. Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national security.
- 19. The deliberations of a Standards Committee or a Sub-Committee of a Standards Committee established under the provisions of Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 in reaching any finding on a matter referred under the provisions of section 64(2) or 71(2) of the Local Government Act 2000.

CS/L:TWM - Local Determination of CofCon Rept.DOC

#### STANDARDS COMMITTEE

#### 11 MAY 2005

#### REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

# SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS OF MISCONDUCT MADE TO STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND

- 1. It has been agreed that it would be helpful for members to be made aware of allegations of misconduct made against Borough Councillors and Parish Councillors within the Borough which the Standards Board for England have either (a) investigated and determined or (b) chosen not to investigate. In relation to the latter, the information is given in the table below is in the form of a statistical summary only as it would be inappropriate to give personal details. In relation to the former, summaries of decisions are published on the Standards Board website and where these are available I have attached a copy of the published summary.
- 2. In addition to the cases set out below, I am aware of four outstanding Parish or Town Council cases within the Borough which are the subject of ongoing investigations and these will be reported when a decision has been made.

PART A – CASES INVESTIGATED BY STANDARDS BOARD			
COUNCIL	ALLEGATION	STANDARDS BOARD DECISION	
APPLEDORE Parish Council Cllr John Lindsay	Failure to treat another person with respect.	See attached Standards Board Summary.	
APPLEDORE Parish Council Cllr James Took	Failure to treat another person with respect.	See attached Standards Board Summary.	
TENTERDEN Town Council Cllr Mrs A Thomas	Failure to declare interest at Planning Committee meeting in June 2004 on the basis of a close friendship with objectors to a planning application.	Failure to comply with paras. 8 and 10 of Code by not declaring personal and prejudicial interest. No action needs to be taken as single error of judgement where Councillor genuinely believed her changed relationship with the friends meant she had no interest but now acknowledges the error.	
PART B - CASES NOT IN	VESTIGATED BY STANDARDS BO	ARD	
COUNCIL	ALLEGATION	STANDARDS BOARD FINDING	
Borough Council	Failure to declare personal interest in a planning application at Planning Committee.	Insufficient information for Board to decide whether to refer for investigation.	
Borough Council	Failure to treat a member of the public with respect at a public meeting.	Alleged conduct not of such significance to justify investigation.	
Borough Council	Failure to treat others with respect at public meetings.	Insufficient information for Board to decide to refer matter for investigation.	



1<sup>st</sup> Floor Cottons Centre Cottons Lane London SE1 2OG

Enquiries: 08450 788 181

Fax: 020 7738 5001

enquiries@standardsboard.co.uk www.standardsboard.co.uk

# Case summary

SBE case number	SBE4199.03
member	Councillor John Lindsay
authority	Appledore Parish Council
allegation	A member failed to treat another person with respect.
date received	23 July 2003
date completed	3 December 2004
SBE outcome	The Ethical Standards Officer found no evidence of any failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

### summary

It was alleged that Councillor John Lindsay failed to treat the clerk of Appledore Parish Council with respect at council meetings between January and September 2002, and that this led to the clerk's resignation. Councillor Lindsay allegedly questioned the clerk's advice that he should not take photos of local properties in his capacity as a member of the Planning Committee.

The Ethical Standards Officer considered that Councillor Lindsay was entitled to question the clerk's advice. The Ethical Standards Officer also considered that the advice from external bodies did not categorically state that Councillor Lindsay should not take photos. The Ethical Standards Officer concluded that Councillor Lindsay did not fail to treat the clerk with respect.

The Ethical Standards Officer found that there was no evidence of any failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

# relevant paragraphs of the Code of Conduct

The allegation in this case relates to Paragraph 2(b) of the Code of Conduct. Paragraph 2(b) states that a member must "treat others with respect".

Ends.



1<sup>st</sup> Floor Cottons Centre Cottons Lane London SF1 2OG

Enquiries: 08450 788 181 Fax: 020 7738 5001

enquiries@standardsboard.co.uk www.standardsboard.co.uk

# Case summary

SBE case number	SBE4200.03
member	Councillor James Took
authority	Appledore Parish Council
allegation	A member failed to treat another person with respect.
date received	23 July 2003
date completed	3 December 2004
SBE outcome	The Ethical Standards Officer found no evidence of any failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

#### summary

It was alleged that Councillor James Took failed to treat the clerk of Appledore Parish Council with respect at council meetings between January and September 2002. Councillor Took allegedly questioned the clerk's advice and sought to become a liaison officer with the Kent Association of Parish Councils (KAPC), a role normally performed by the clerk. This behaviour allegedly led to the clerk's resignation.

The Ethical Standards Officer considered that Councillor Took was entitled to question the clerk's advice. The Ethical Standards Officer also considered that Councillor Took was allowed to liaise with the KAPC in the specific circumstances (circumstances of which the clerk was unaware at the time). The Ethical Standards Officer concluded that Councillor Took did not fail to treat the clerk with respect.

The Ethical Standards Officer found that there was no evidence of any failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

## relevant paragraphs of the Code of Conduct

The allegation in this case relates to Paragraph 2(b) of the Code of Conduct. Paragraph 2(b) states that a member must "treat others with respect".

Ends.